
 

 

Call-In Sub-Committee (Education)  AGENDA 
 

DATE: 

 

Monday 2 February 2015 

 

TIME: 

 

6.30 pm 

 

VENUE: 

 

Committee Room 5, 

Harrow Civic Centre 

 

 

 MEMBERSHIP      (Quorum 3) 

   

  Chair: 

 

Councillor Barry Kendler  

 

  Councillors: 

 
Ghazanfar Ali 
Jeff Anderson 
Jo Dooley 
Jerry Miles 

 

Mrs Camilla Bath 
Ramji Chauhan 
Janet Mote 
Lynda Seymour 
 

  
 

Representatives of Voluntary Aided Sector:  Mrs J Rammelt/Reverend P Reece 

Representatives of Parent Governors:  Mrs Aamirah Khan/Vacancy 

 
 

Reserve Members: 

 
1. Primesh Patel 
2. Sasi Suresh 
3. Mitzi Green 
4. Mrs Rekha Shah 
5. Aneka Shah 

 

1. Marilyn Ashton 
2. Jean Lammiman 
3. Ms Mina Parmar 
4. - 
5. - 

 

  
 

 
 
 

Contact:  Vishal Seegoolam, Senior Democratic Services Officer 

Tel:  020 8424 1883    E-mail:  vishal.seegoolam@harrow.gov.uk 
 



Call-In Sub-Committee (Education) - 2 February 2015 2 

 
 AGENDA - PART I   

 
1. ATTENDANCE BY RESERVE MEMBERS    
 
 To note the attendance at this meeting of any duly appointed Reserve Members. 

 
Reserve Members may attend meetings:- 
 
(i) to take the place of an ordinary Member for whom they are a reserve; 
(ii) where the ordinary Member will be absent for the whole of the meeting; and  
(iii) the meeting notes at the start of the meeting at the item ‘Reserves’ that the 

Reserve Member is or will be attending as a reserve; 
(iv) if a Reserve Member whose intention to attend has been noted arrives after 

the commencement of the meeting, then that Reserve Member can only act 
as a Member from the start of the next item of business on the agenda after 
his/her arrival. 

 
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST    
 
 To receive declarations of disclosable pecuniary or non pecuniary interests, arising 

from business to be transacted at this meeting, from: 
 
(a) all Members of the Sub-Committee; 
(b) all other Members present. 
 

3. APPOINTMENT OF VICE CHAIR    
 
 To consider the appointment of a Vice-Chair to the Sub-Committee for the Municipal 

Year 2014/15.  
 

4. PROTOCOL FOR THE OPERATION OF THE CALL-IN SUB-COMMITTEE 
(EDUCATION) (Pages 5 - 6) 

 
5. CALL-IN OF THE CABINET DECISION (15 JANUARY 2015) - DETERMINATION 

OF STATUTORY PROPOSALS TO EXPAND GRIMSDYKE SCHOOL   (Pages 7 - 
78) 

 
 a) Notice invoking Call-In; 

 
b) Minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 15 January 2015; 

 
c) Report submitted to Cabinet on 15 January 2015. 

 



Call-In Sub-Committee (Education) - 2 February 2015 3 

 AGENDA - PART II   
 

 Nil   
 

 In accordance with the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985, this 
meeting is being called with less than 5 clear working days’ notice by virtue of the 
special circumstances and grounds for urgency stated below:- 
 
Under Committee Procedure Rule 46.6 a meeting of the Call-In Sub-Committee 
(Education) must be held within 7 clear working days of the receipt of a request for 
call-in. This meeting therefore had to be arranged at very short notice and it was not 
possible for the agenda to be published 5 clear working days prior to the meeting.    
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

C:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\7\7\AI00089776\$2jg1o0s5.doc 

PROTOCOL FOR THE OPERATION OF THE CALL-IN SUB-COMMITTEE 

 
 
1. Call-in is the process whereby a decision of the Executive, Portfolio Holder or Officer (where the 

latter is taking a Key Decision) taken but not implemented, may be examined by the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee prior to implementation.  The Overview and Scrutiny Committee has 
established the Call-in Sub-Committee to carry out this role.  Committee Procedure Rule 46 sets 
out the rules governing the call-in process. 

 
 The Process for Call-in 

 
2. Six of the Members of the Council can call in a decision of the Executive which has been taken 

but not implemented.  In relation to Executive decisions on education matters only, the number 
of Members required to call in a decision which has been made but not implemented shall be six 
Councillors or, in the alternative, six persons comprising representatives of the voting co-opted 
members and at least one political group on Overview and Scrutiny Committee. Only decisions 
relating to Executive functions, whether delegated or not, may be called in. 

 
 150 members of the public (defined as anyone registered on the electoral roll of the Borough) 

can call in a decision of the Executive, which has been taken but not implemented. 
 
3. Decisions of the Executive will not be implemented for 5 clear working days following the 

publication of the decision and a decision can only be called in within this period (this does not 
apply to urgent decisions - Committee Procedure Rule 47 refers).  The notice of the decision will 
state the date on which the decisions may be implemented if not called in. 

 
4. Call-in must be by notification to the Monitoring Officer in writing or by fax: 
 

i) signed by all six Members and voting co-optees requesting the call-in.  A request for 
call-in by e-mail will require a separate e-mail from each of the six Members concerned.   
 
ii)  signed by all 150 members of the public registered on the electoral roll, and stating 
their names and addresses. 

 
5. In accordance with Committee Procedure Rule 46.5, a notice seeking to invoke the call-in 

procedure must state at least one of the following grounds in support of the request for a call-in 
of the decision:- 

 
(a) inadequate consultation with stakeholders prior to the decision; 
(b) the absence of adequate evidence on which to base a decision; 
(c) the decision is contrary to the policy framework, or contrary to, or not wholly in 

accordance with the budget framework; 
(d) the action is not proportionate to the desired outcome; 
(e) a potential human rights challenge; 
(f) insufficient consideration of legal and financial advice. 
 
 

 Referral to the Call-in Sub-Committee 

 
6. Once a notice invoking the call-in procedure has been received, the decision may not be 

implemented until the Chair and nominated member have considered the guidance outlined in 
Appendix 1 to the Committee Procedure Rules and, if required, the Call-in Sub-Committee has 
considered the decision. The Monitoring Officer shall in consultation with the Chair arrange a 
meeting of the Call-in Sub-Committee to be held within seven clear working days of the receipt 
of the request for call-in.   

 
7. The Call-in Sub-Committee will consider the decision and the reasons for call-in. The Sub-

Committee may invite the Executive decision-taker and a representative of those calling in the 
decision to provide information at the meeting. 

Agenda Item 4
Pages 5 to 6

5



 
 

C:\moderngov\Data\AgendaItemDocs\6\7\7\AI00089776\$2jg1o0s5.doc 

 
8. The Sub-Committee may come to one of the following conclusions:- 
 

(i) that the challenge to the decision should be taken no further and the decision be 
implemented; 

 
(ii) that the decision is contrary to the policy framework or contrary to or not wholly in 

accordance with the budget framework, and should not therefore be referred to the 
Council. In such a case the Call-in sub-committee must set out the nature of its concerns 
for Council; or  

 
(iii) that the matter should be referred back to the decision taker (i.e the Portfolio Holder or 

Executive, whichever took the decision) for reconsideration. In such a case the Call-in 
sub-committee must set out the nature of its concerns for the decision taker/Executive. 

 

6



 
CALL IN NOTICE 

 
“I hereby give notice that I wish to call-in the decision ‘Determination of statutory proposals 
to expand Grimsdyke School’ – taken by Cabinet on 15th January 2015. The reasons for 
the call-in are as follows: 
  
Inadequate consultation with stakeholders prior to the decision: 
  
The initial consultation period lasted just over a month from 16th September 2014. This 
included information packs being distributed to 350 properties around the school, and a 
meeting at the school to which parents, pupils and teachers were invited – 80 attended. 
Out of 57 consultation responses received, 32 (just over 56%) were against the 
expansion, 17 were in favour and the remaining 8 were unsure. 
  
Following the consultation, the statutory proposals to expand the school were published 
on 3rd November, with representations open for 4 weeks. A total of 70 representations 
were received (and are detailed in Appendix 1 of the Cabinet report); 60 of which (86%) 
were clearly against the expansion, with only 3 responses obviously in favour and the rest 
unclear. The main reason for objection given in these representations was the impact the 
expansion will have on traffic in the nearby roads. The Council has conceded that a 
significant number of the representations included comments from residents angry that 
they had not received initial consultation information. 
  
This view was given further weight by a resident who asked questions at the Cabinet 
meeting, who insisted that the Council had not consulted Derwent Avenue which is “150 
yards away from the school”. He also took umbrage at the portfolio holder’s assertion that 
the Council had consulted “all houses which adjoin the route from the school to Grimsdyke 
road along Colburn Avenue and Hillview Road”, which he said should have included 
Derwent Avenue – but evidently did not. 
  
The Council has conducted a consultation exercise which, not only yielded a negative 
response to proceeding with the decision, but brought to the fore dissatisfaction with the 
standard of the consultation itself. Indeed, the aforementioned resident accused the 
Council of “riding roughshod over the overwhelming views of the residents”, and stating 
“that [it] clearly did not consult with all affected parties.” The vast majority of those who 
submitted representations are those residents who live in nearby roads, and who will be 
directly affected if the expansion goes ahead – they are, by every reasonable definition of 
the word, ‘stakeholders’. These people feel very strongly that they should have been 
consulted, and that if they had been it seems likely the consultation response would have 
been even more compellingly against the proposal. It is therefore argued that the 
consultation was inadequate. 
  
  
The absence of adequate evidence on which to base a decision: 
  
The Council has sought to mitigate the concerns raised about the impact on traffic via 
means mentioned in the Cabinet report. These measures, at paragraphs 8 and 9, are 
lacking in detail, are largely generic and do not specifically address the sheer range of 
concerns raised in the representations – or the specific circumstances of Grimsdyke 
School. The report does state that some of the suggestions from the representations will 
be ‘considered’, but given Cabinet had an obligation to ‘consider’ and to give ‘due regard’ 

Agenda Item 5
Pages 7 to 78

7



to the consultation and representation responses before making this decision (and has 
effectively ignored them), it is unlikely this will be of satisfaction to concerned residents. 
Cabinet has pressed on with this decision despite almost no clear evidence being 
presented on how the traffic issues will be addressed, and with evidence brought to 
Cabinet’s attention by people who know the area best largely being disregarded. The 
portfolio holder admitted, quite honestly, at the meeting that “we don’t understand the 
problem”. If not scrapped entirely, it would have been far more prudent for Cabinet to at 
least delay this decision until it did understand the problem and how best to combat it. 
  
There is, of course, recognition that more school places in Harrow are needed, but that 
fact of itself is not sufficient evidence or reasoning to proceed with a decision without 
sufficient mitigation outlined, and to which there is so much apparent opposition. The 
Department for Education guidance on which the Council’s own guidance (Appendix 2 of 
the Cabinet report) is based states: “The decision-maker should not simply take account 
of the numbers of people expressing a particular view. Instead, they should give the 
greatest weight to responses from those stakeholders likely to be most directly affected by 
a proposal – especially parents of children at the affected school(s).” The people initially 
consulted were parents and staff at the school, as well as local residents – and they were 
against the expansion. Many additional local residents who were not consulted made their 
views known via representations, and they were also against the proposals – by an even 
more significant majority. 
  
Regarding the representation responses specifically, it is telling that when the Council 
published statutory proposals to expand 13 other primary schools in January 2014, not a 
single representation on them was received; despite a couple of these proposals being 
received with a degree of hostility at the consultation stage – before further work was 
carried out. At every stage the responses received regarding Grimsdyke have been 
against the expansion, from the people most directly affected by the decision, and in 
numbers not seen before for previous expansions. Such an overwhelming response 
should, by any reasonable standard, be considered evidence which Cabinet should have 
taken into account in making its decision. It is clear from the decision to press ahead 
without regard to these responses, and without detailed plans to combat the traffic, that 
Cabinet has not properly taken into account the evidence (or lack of it) at its disposal. 
  
 
Signed by 
Councillor Susan Hall 
Councillor Ameet Jogia 
Councillor Barry Macleod-Cullinane 
Councillor Kantilal Rabadia 
Councillor John Hinkley 
Councillor Camilla Bath 
Councillor Jean Lammiman 
Councillor Marilyn Ashton 
 

8



 

 
 
 

CABINET   

 

15 JANUARY 2015 
 
 

Record of decisions taken at the meeting held on Thursday 15 January 2015. 
 
 
Present: 
 
Chair: * Councillor David Perry 
   
Councillors: * Sue Anderson 

* Simon Brown 
* Margaret Davine 
* Keith Ferry 
* Glen Hearnden  
 

* Graham Henson 
* Varsha Parmar 
* Sachin Shah 
* Anne Whitehead 
 

In attendance: 
 

  Kam Chana 
  Susan Hall 
  Barry Macleod-Cullinane 
  

Minute 99 
Minute 99 
Minute 99 
 

* Denotes Member present 
 
 

RESOLVED ITEMS   
 

102. Determination of statutory proposals to expand Grimsdyke School   
 
RESOLVED:  That the statutory proposals to expand permanently Grimsdyke 
School by one form of entry (30 pupils) from 1 September 2015 be approved. 
 
Reason for Decision:  To enable the Local Authority to fulfil its statutory 
duties to provide sufficient school places in its area. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected:  As set out in the report. 
 

9



10

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

REPORT FOR: 

 

CABINET 
 

Date of Meeting: 

 

15 January 2015 

Subject: 

 

Determination of statutory proposals to 
expand Grimsdyke School 

Key Decision:  

 

Yes 

 

Responsible Officer: 

 

Chris Spencer, Interim Corporate Director of 
Children and Families 

 

Portfolio Holder: 

 

Councillor Simon Brown, Portfolio Holder 
Children, Schools and Young People 

 

Exempt: 

 

No 

 

Decision subject to 

Call-in: 

 

Yes 

 

 

Wards affected: 

 

Hatch End 

Enclosures: 

 

Appendix 1 – Representations to the  
                      statutory proposals 

Appendix 2 – Considerations about the  
                      proposal in relation to the  
                      Decision-Makers Guidance 

Appendix 3 – Letter from Grimsdyke School  
                      Governing Body 

  

 

11



 

 

Section 1 – Summary and Recommendations 
 

 
Statutory proposals to expand permanently Grimsdyke School were published 
on 3 November 2014 for a four week representation period.  This report 
provides information and recommendations to enable Cabinet to determine 
the statutory proposals. 
 
Recommendations:  
Cabinet is requested to approve the statutory proposals to expand 
permanently Grimsdyke School by one form of entry (30 pupils) from 1 
September 2015. 
 
Reason:  (For recommendation) 
To enable the Local Authority to fulfil its statutory duties to provide sufficient 
school places in its area. 
 

 

Section 2 – Report 
 

Introductory paragraph 
1. The Local Authority has a statutory responsibility to provide sufficient 

school places for its area.  Like many boroughs, Harrow is 
experiencing significant growth in the pupil population and has been 
creating additional school places to meet the increased demand since 
September 2009. 
 

2. The latest school roll projections predict that the increased demand for 
Reception places will continue at a high level until at least 2020/21.   
 

3. In July 2014, Cabinet agreed to the publication of statutory proposals to 
expand permanently a third phase of primary schools.  The decision 
sought will help the Council meet its corporate priorities to make a 
difference for families, communities and the vulnerable by ensuring 
sufficient school places in its area. 

 

Options considered 
4. In July 2014, Cabinet agreed to delegate to the interim Corporate 

Director of Children and Families, in consultation with the Portfolio 
Holder for Children, Schools and Young People, the decision about: 
the final list of schools that should be moved to the statutory process 
for permanent expansion. 
 

5. Consultation about the proposed expansion was held from Tuesday 16 
September to Monday 20 October 2014.  Over half the respondents to 
the consultation disagreed with the Council’s proposal to expand 
Grimsdyke School.  However, nearly one third agreed and the 
response level of 57 needs to be viewed in the context of some 
hundreds of response forms distributed to parents, staff and local 
residents.  Also the online consultation response portal on the Harrow 

12



 

 

Council website was publicised.  On 22 October 2014, following 
consideration of the consultation outcomes, the Corporate Director 
Children & Families approved the publication of statutory proposals.  
Information about the consultation outcomes is included in Appendix 2 
to this report. 
 

6. Statutory proposals to expand to expand Grimsdyke School were 
published on 3 November 2014 for a four week representation period 
which closed on 1 December 2014. 

 
7. 70 representations in relation to the statutory proposals were received 

by Harrow Council by the closing date of the representation period on 1 
December 2014.  These representations are attached as Appendix 1 to 
this report.  The representations were received by emails and letters.  
Many representations stated a consultation document had not been 
received.  The majority of the representations refer to the existing traffic 
congestion and anti-social driving behaviour in the area of the school 
and object to the proposed expansion of Grimsdyke School on the 
basis of the increased traffic congestion issues that will result rather 
than to the principle of expanding the school.  Summary of the issues 
raised in the representations is given in Appendix 2 together with 
officer comment. 
 

8. The traffic congestion issues are recognised and are being addressed 
within the school expansion programme processes, including: 

• additional school places being created close to where the children 
live to reduce car use across the borough; 

• Council and schools working to deploy resources to contribute to 
a decline in traffic around expanded schools, even while extra 
pupils are added; 

• Transport Assessments are undertaken at all schools approved 
for expansion as part of the Planning process; 

• updated School Travel Plans are submitted as part of the planning 
application; 

• additional parking enforcement activity at all expansion schools. 
The representations also include some helpful suggestions about 
possible mitigations for the problems, all of which will be considered. 

 
9. The Governing Body of Grimsdyke School supports the proposal to 

expand the school (see Appendix 3).  The Governing Body appreciates 
the need to deal with the issues raised around traffic and have tasked a 
committee with developing an updated Travel Plan with officers from 
Harrow.  The governors are committed to ensuring that the expansion 
does not negatively impact on the teaching and learning for the current 
pupils and see the expansion as an opportunity to modernise the 
provision for present and future pupils which has been long needed. 
 

10. Cabinet has the following options: 
a. Reject the proposals; 
b. Approve the proposals without modification; 
c. Approve the proposals with modification; 

13



 

 

d. Approve the proposals, with or without modification, subject to 
certain conditions being met. 

 
Recommendation 
11. The Corporate Director of Children and Families recommends that 

Cabinet approves the statutory expansion proposals as published to 
effect the permanent expansion of Grimsdyke School by one form of 
entry (30 pupils) from 1 September 2015.  The school would fill 
incrementally from the point of admission into the school. 
 

12. The reasons for this recommendation include: 

• the Governing Body of Grimsdyke School supports the proposal 
to expand the school; 

• the primary concerns in the responses to the consultation and in 
the representations to the statutory proposals are about the 
traffic congestion and anti-social driving behaviour associated 
with school drop-off and collection times rather than the school 
expansion itself; 

• the traffic congestion issues are recognised and are being 
addressed corporately within the school expansion programme 
processes.  Full officer response to the comments and 
representations is given in Appendix 2.  Grimsdyke School 
Governing Body appreciates the need to deal with the issues 
raised around traffic and have tasked a committee with 
developing an updated Travel Plan with officers from Harrow; 

• extensive efforts were made to bring the expansion proposal to 
the attention of residents in the area.  This is in keeping with the 
Council’s approach across all 22 school expansion projects now 
in progress or recently completed.  The processes demonstrate 
that a very wide consultation has begun and the Council’s and 
school’s commitment to addressing local concerns, especially 
about traffic, as part of the processes about the expansion 
proposal. 

 
Performance Issues 
13. Schools in Harrow perform well in comparison to national and 

statistically similar local authorities.  The vast majority of primary 
schools and secondary schools are judged ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’ by 
OfSTED.  As at October 2014, 87% of Harrow’s primary and secondary 
schools are judged ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’, compared to 85% in London 
and 80% nationally (Source: Ofsted Data View). 
 

14. The Schools White Paper and Education Act 2011 maintain a focus on 
driving up standards in schools, and place more of the responsibility 
with the schools directly for their improvement.  The role of the Local 
Authority in measuring performance and driving improvement has 
changed significantly and is reduced from its previous level.  However, 
the Local Authority maintains a strategic oversight and enabling role in 
local education, and is likely to retain some role in monitoring 
educational achievement and key measures such as exclusions and 
absence.  The Local Authority is also statutorily responsible for 
supporting and improving underperforming schools. 

14



 

 

 
15. The Local Authority continues to monitor key education indicators.  The 

indicators are used locally to monitor, improve and support education 
at both school and local authority level.  They are also used within 
information provided to the Department for Education (DfE). 

 

Year Key Stage 2 
Reading, 
Writing & 
Maths L4+ 

KS1-KS2 
Expected 
Progress - 
Reading 

KS1-KS2 
Expected 
Progress - 

Writing 

KS1-KS2 
Expected 
Progress - 

Maths 

Harrow 79% 91% 93% 90% 
2012 

National 74% 90% 90% 87% 

Harrow 79% 90% 92% 92% 
2013 

National 75% 88% 92% 88% 

Harrow 82% 93% 92% 93% 2014 
(P) National 78% 91% 93% 89% 

Source: DfE Statistical First Release, (P) – Provisional 
 

Year Key Stage 4 
% 5 A*-C 

grades inc 
E&M 

KS2-KS4 
Expected 
Progress - 

English 

KS2-KS4 
Expected 
Progress 
– Maths 

Harrow 63.6% 82.3% 80.4% 
2012 

National 59.1% 69.3% 69.9% 

Harrow 65.4% 79.7% 83.3% 
2013 

National 60.8% 71.7% 72.0% 

Harrow 61.3% 81.4% 74.0% 2014  
(P) National 56.1% 71.0% 65.4% 

                  Source: DfE Statistical First Release, (P) - Provisional 
     Please note that the significant difference between the 2014 and previous year's  
     result is largely due to the new 2014 methodology applied by the DfE. 

 
16. The indicators fall within the following areas: 

• Attendance and exclusions - remain a statutory duty for the Local 
Authority to monitor and improve. 

• Underperforming schools – schools are assessed at Key Stage 2 & Key 
Stage 4 against defined floor standards. 

• Closing the Gap - is a fundamental part of Ofsted’s school inspection 
process, and accordingly, the Local Authority monitors the attainment of 
identified groups of pupils in its schools.  The tables below includes the 
gap at key stage 2 and at key stage 4 between pupils eligible for free 
school meals and their peers and the gap between Harrow’s SEN 
children and their peers – children with a SEN provision includes School 
Action, School Action Plus or a Statement. 

15



 

 

 

2014 (P) Key Stage 2 – Closing the Gap Harrow National* 

Achievement gap between pupils eligible for free 
school meals and their peers, based on pupils 
achieving level 4 or above in Reading, Writing and 
mathematics at Key Stage 2. 

14% 
19% 

(2013) 

Achievement gap between pupils with special 
educational needs and their peers, based on pupils 
achieving level 4 or above in Reading, Writing and 
mathematics at Key Stage 2. 

52% 
53% 

(2013) 

 

2014 (P) Key Stage 4 - Narrowing the Gap Harrow National* 

Achievement gap between pupils eligible for free 
school meals and their peers, based on pupils 
achieving 5 or more A* to C grade GCSEs including 
English and mathematics GCSEs. 

21.6% 
26.7% 
(2013) 

The Special Educational Needs (SEN)/non-SEN 
gap – achieving 5 A*- C GCSE inc. English and 
Maths GCSEs. 

47.3% 
47.2% 
(2013) 

                    *The 2014 national FSM and SEN results have not been published as yet. 

 
17. There is a complex interrelationship between a number of other 

performance issues such as traffic congestion, road safety, traffic and 
parking enforcement and travel plan performance, as referred to earlier 
in the report, and all these considerations are taken into account in 
assessing school expansion proposals. 

 
Environmental Implications 
18. The Council’s over-arching climate change strategy sets a target to 

reduce carbon emissions by 4% a year.  Schools account for 50% of 
the council’s total carbon emissions.  Reducing emissions from schools 
is therefore a vital component in meeting the Council’s target.  
However there is a significant risk that the expansion programme will 
increase emissions rather than reduce them.  Phase 2 of the School 
Expansion Programme will have an impact on carbon emissions that 
will need to be carefully considered in this context. 

 
19. The RE:FIT Schools Programme will be available to retrofit existing 

school buildings to improve their energy efficiency.  For new-build 
schools, the design standards will need to ensure that they meet high 
energy use efficiency standards.  Of particular importance will be the 
use of low carbon technologies – particularly for space heating – and 
these will need to be thoroughly investigated during the design phase. 

 
20. For many of the projects in the school expansion, programme, planning 

applications will be required and part of the application will be a school 
travel plan.  Through this process and the development of the solutions 
for the schools, the impact of the additional pupils and their travel 
modes will be addressed. 

 
Risk Management Implications 
21. Risk included on Directorate risk register?  Yes  

16



 

 

Separate risk register in place?  Yes 
 

22. The directorate and corporate risk management implications for the 
Council arising from school place planning are included on the 
directorate and corporate risk registers. 
 

23. The key high level risks for the school expansion programme are set 
out below: 
 

High Level 
Risks 

Consequences Mitigating/Control Actions 

Planning Planning 
permission not 
granted creating 
delays to 
programme. 

Any school expansion that involves building 
works requiring planning consent is governed 
by planning law.   Planning applications are 
subject to statutory consultation processes that 
are conducted separately and independently 
by the Planning Department.  In order to 
mitigate risks to the programme, the following 
control actions have been put in place: 

Informal discussions with Planners during 
feasibility regarding planning polices. 

Community engagement through the school 
expansion consultation and the pre-planning 
engagement activities.  School community 
and local residents invited to meetings and 
provided with information about local 
proposals. 

Traffic Assessments undertaken to inform 
School Travel Plans and highways mitigation 
measures. 

IT improvements have been put in place for 
the planning applications to be viewed on the 
Council website. 

Finance Unaffordable 
Programme / 
individual 
projects and 
additional costs 
to Council.   

Risk of loss of 
TBNP funding if 
the new places 
are not provided 
and the 
allocations 
spent by 
September 
2015. 

Capital Strategy developed to bring together 
the Government’s school funding streams: 
Basic Need, Capital Maintenance, Targeted 
Basic Need Programme; and building 
programmes e.g. Priority School Building 
Programme. 
 
School expansion feasibility designs aligned to 
the DfE guidance on spaces and areas for 
schools. 
 
Indicative costs calculated from feasibility 
studies to inform programme budget. 
 
Programme contingency has been included in 
the programme budget. 
 
Robust financial and programme monitoring 

17



 

 

through the Programme Board, Capital Forum 
and Cabinet reports. 
 
Exploring how the Government’s Free School 
Programme for new schools (programme 
funded directly from government) may be 
supported in Harrow. 

Programme 
delivery 

Delays to 
programme – 
school places 
not available, 
additional costs. 

Keepmoat – late 
AMPs and 
delivery 
programmes 
may impact on 
provision of 
places in 
September 
2015. 

Capital Team expanded with appropriate skills, 
experience and expertise in major construction 
projects to deliver programme. 

Programme Board meets regularly with 
Corporate Director and senior officer 
membership. 

 

Pupil 
Projections  

Over or under 
estimate of pupil 
growth leading 
to a mismatch of 
provision – 
shortage of 
places or over 
provision of 
places leading 
to high levels of 
vacancies. 

GLA commissioned to provide school roll 
projections. Review of projections against 
Admissions data on applications and in-year 
movement of pupils.  Close working with 
schools. 

The permanent expansions are planned to 
achieve a sustainable level of school places to 
meet the growth as indicated by the pupil 
projections. The additional permanent places 
are created as the demand grows over the 
years. 

The peak and variations in demand for school 
places will be met by continued use of 
temporary additional places. This approach will 
minimise the risk of having to remove 
permanent capacity in the years following the 
peak in demand. 

Communication  

 

Lack of 
understanding 
of need and 
proposals 
leading to 
delays and 
complaints. 

Communication strategy developed for overall 
programme and individual projects. 

School Expansion Stakeholder Reference 
Group meets with cross-party and 
representative membership to provide advice 
and guidance on the implementation of the 
school expansion programme. 

Programme communications officer develops 
and co-ordinates communications and 
community engagement. 

 

 

18



 

 

Legal Implications 
 
24. The Council has a statutory duty under the Education Act 1996 to 

ensure the provision of sufficient schools for the provision of primary 
and secondary education in their area. 

 
25. For maintained schools, there are prescribed requirements in order to 

make specific alterations.  This includes expanding existing schools to 
add additional form groups.  The requirements are set out in the 
Education and Inspections Act 2006 and associated regulations.   

 
26. New school organisation regulations and associated guidance came 

into force on 28 January 2014 and the process has been amended to 
streamline the process.  The new statutory requirements and national 
guidance have been followed when publishing the statutory proposals 
for the expansion of Grimsdyke School. 
 

27. The statutory guidance on expansion of schools confirms factors which 
should be taken into account by local authorities when determining 
proposals.  Appendix 2 to this report sets out considerations about the 
proposal in relation to the Department for Education School 
Organisation Guidance for proposers and decision-makers. 

 
28. The Council must ensure it meets its public law duties when making 

decisions, including meeting its public sector equality duty.  It must 
consider all relevant information, disregard irrelevant information, act in 
accordance with the statutory requirements and make its decision in a 
fair and transparent manner. 

 
 

Financial Implications 
 
Revenue 
29. Any school expansion programme will inevitably have significant 

financial implications.  All schools proposed for expansion have raised 
concerns about available funding and clarity about funding is essential 
to maintain their commitment to the School Expansion Programme.  
School revenue budgets are funded from the Dedicated Schools Grant 
(DSG).  As the Department for Education (DfE) allocates DSG based 
on pupil numbers, any increase in pupil numbers results in additional 
revenue funding for the expanding school.  The revenue funding is 
allocated to schools based on the Harrow Schools’ Funding Formula.  
School budgets are based on pupil numbers in the October prior to the 
start of the financial year, so there is always a funding lag when 
schools increase their pupil numbers.  To ensure that schools who 
agree to an additional class are not financially penalised, the Harrow 
School Funding Formula provides ‘Additional Class Funding’ for the 
period from September to the end of March, following which the 
mainstream funding formula will take effect.  This ensures that schools 
have adequate funding for at least the average costs of a teacher and 
some set up costs. 

 

19



 

 

Capital   
30. The budget for the school expansion programme, including primary 

school expansions in Phase 1 and Phase 2 and three expansions at 
Phase 3, secondary school expansions and provision for pupils with 
special educational needs (SEN) is £89.784m. 
 

31. At its meeting on 16 October 2014, Cabinet delegated authority to use 
suitable national or local public sector Framework(s) to: 

a) undertake feasibility studies, surveys and provide professional 
costs and technical services, and; 

b) design and build / refurbish school facilities. 
Feasibility study will be undertaken to develop design proposals and 
develop costings if the statutory proposals are approved.  This work will 
need to ensure that the necessary building work could be completed by 
September 2016 and any necessary interim accommodation 
requirements could be made for the intake of additional children in 
September 2015. 
 

32. Based on current estimates and market conditions it is expected that it 
is possible to deliver this programme with EFA capital grants, without 
the need for council capital funding.  If the programme is not 
deliverable within the current programme then borrowing may be 
required.  This risk is being monitored closely in consultation with 
Cabinet Members. 

 

 
Equalities implications / Public Sector Equality Duty  
33. Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 requires that public bodies, in 

exercising their functions, have due regard to the need to (1) eliminate 
discrimination, harassment, victimisation and other unlawful conduct 
under the Act, (2) advance equality of opportunity and (3) foster good 
relations between persons who share a protected characteristic and 
persons who do not share it. 

 
34. Equalities Impact Assessment has been undertaken on the proposal to 

permanently expand Grimsdyke School.  The Equalities Impact 
Assessment is included as a Background Paper to this report.  The 
conclusion of this assessment is that the implications are either positive 
or neutral in that the expansion of the school will help to ensure 
sufficient school places for the increasing numbers of children in 
Harrow.  The assessment has not identified any potential for unlawful 
conduct or disproportionate impact and concludes that all opportunities 
to advance equality are being addressed. 

 
35. Harrow’s schools are successful, inclusive and provide a diversity of 

provision.  The school expansion programme will ensure sufficient 
school places for the increasing numbers of children in Harrow and will 
build on the successful provision that already exists in Harrow’s 
schools.  By acting to ensure all children in Harrow have access to a 
high quality school place, Harrow is promoting equality of opportunity 
for all children and young people. 

 

20



 

 

Council Priorities 
36. The Council’s vision is: Working Together to Make a Difference for 

Harrow. 
 
37. The Council Priorities are as follows: 

• Making a difference for the vulnerable 

• Making a difference for communities 

• Making a difference for local businesses 

• Making a difference for families 
 
38. The recommendation supports these priorities by: 

• Ensuring Harrow Council fulfils its statutory duties to provide 
sufficient school places in its area. 

• Providing high quality local mainstream and special educational 
need provision in schools for children close to where they live. 

 

Section 3 - Statutory Officer Clearance 
 

 
 

   
on behalf of the 

Name:    Jo Frost x  Chief Financial Officer 

  
Date:      4 December 2014 

   

 
 

   
on behalf of the 

Name:    Sharon Clarke x  Monitoring Officer 

 
Date:      9 December 2014 

   
 

 
 

 

Ward Councillors notified: 

 

 

YES 
 

 

EqIA carried out: 

 

EqIA cleared by: 

 

YES 
 

Corporate Equalities 
Impact Assessment 
Quality Assurance Group 
 

 
 

21



 

 

Section 4 - Contact Details and Background 

Papers 
 

Contact:   Johanna Morgan, Education Lead School Organisation,  

020 8736 6841 johanna.morgan@harrow.gov.uk 
 

Background Papers:  Equalities Impact Assessment on the proposed  

    expansion of Grimsdyke School 
 
 

Call-In Waived by the 

Chairman of Overview 

and Scrutiny 

Committee 

 

 NOT APPLICABLE 
 
[Call-in applies] 

 
 

 

22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



Grimsdyke School     Cabinet report 15 January 2015               Appendix 2 
  

 

Considerations about the proposal in relation to the 
Decision-Makers Guidance 

 
The decision maker for these statutory proposals is the local authority, and this report presents 
the proposals to Cabinet for determination.  If the local authority fails to decide proposals within 
two months of the end of the representation period the local authority must forward proposals, 
and any received representations, to the Office of the Schools Adjudicator for decision.  This 
two month period will end on 1 February 2015. 
 
Decision Makers are required to have regard to guidance issued by the Secretary of State when 
they take a decision on proposals.  New school organisation regulations and associated 
guidance came into force on 28 January 2014.  The guidance documents are available at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/school-organisation-maintained-schools. 
‘Annex B: Guidance for Decision-makers’ sets out some the factors that decision-makers should 
consider when deciding a proposal.  These factors are not exhaustive and the importance of 
each will vary depending on the type and circumstances of the proposal.  All proposals must be 
considered on their individual merits.  
 
The format of this Appendix follows the framework of the Annex B guidance.  The text in italics 
at the start of each section contains extracts from the guidance to assist members to 
understand the context.  The text beneath the extracts in each section contains officer comment 
in relation to the factors. 
 
 

Consideration of consultation and representation period 
The decision-maker will need to be satisfied that the appropriate consultation and/or 
representation period has been carried out and that the proposer has had regard to the 
responses received.  If the proposer has failed to meet the statutory requirements, a proposal 
may be deemed invalid and therefore should be rejected.  The decision-maker must consider all 
the views submitted, including all objections to and comments on the proposal. 
 
Consultation about the proposal to expand Grimsdyke School was conducted from Tuesday 16 
September to Monday 20 October 2014.  The consultation responses and outcomes (see 
‘Views submitted’ section below) were reported to the Corporate Director for Children and 
Families when making the decision to publish statutory proposals. 
 
Statutory proposals to expand to expand Grimsdyke School were published on 3 November 
2014 for a four week representation period which closed on 1 December 2014.  In order to 
make the nature of the proposals explicit and clear for all stakeholders, the brief notice and the 
full proposal stated as full information as possible.  It is considered that all necessary 
information was provided and made available for stakeholders and interested parties to see. 

 
The brief notice and full proposal were developed with close reference to the Government 
guidance.  It is considered that the published brief notice and full proposal comply with the 
statutory requirements. 

 
 
 

 

65



Grimsdyke School     Cabinet report 15 January 2015               Appendix 2 
  

Education standards and diversity of provision 
Decision-makers should consider the quality and diversity of schools in the relevant area and 
whether the proposal will meet or affect the aspirations of parents, raise local standards and 
narrow attainment gaps. 

The decision-maker should also take into account the extent to which the proposal is consistent 
with the government’s policy on academies as set out on the department’s website. 
 
Quality of schools 
Schools in Harrow perform well in comparison to national and statistically similar local 
authorities.  The vast majority of primary schools and secondary schools are judged ‘good’ or 
‘outstanding’ by OfSTED.  As at 31st March 2014, 90% of Harrow’s primary and secondary 
schools are judged ‘good’ or ‘outstanding’, compared to 85% in London and 80% nationally 
(Source: Ofsted Data View). 
 
Diversity of schools 
There is a range of schools in Harrow offering diversity to parents both in terms of ethos and 
size.  Harrow has a Church of England primary school, a Hindu primary school, a Jewish 
primary school, six Roman Catholic primary schools and two Roman Catholic high schools.  
Primary sector schools are organised as separate and combined infant and junior schools and 
have a range of planned admission numbers from one to four forms of entry. 
 
Harrow is committed to securing greater autonomy, flexibility and scope for schools to drive 
their own agendas within a collaborative whole-borough framework.  Harrow’s success in this 
approach is demonstrated through the Harrow School Improvement Partnership and the Harrow 
Collegiate. 
 
The community of Harrow schools has a tradition of collaboration and cooperation and is 
confident to develop and embrace innovative solutions.  Within this context the local authority, in 
partnership with schools, will continue to explore routes that provide creative and innovative 
solutions for challenges faced by individual schools and groups of schools, and provide a 
means to secure school improvement. 
 
Two primary schools established an academy trust to drive improvements in education 
attainment.  Another primary school joined an academy trust with a high school. 
 
Aspirations of parents 
The responses to the consultation undertaken on Phase 2 school expansion proposals in 
September – October 2013 indicate broad agreement with the Council’s approach to creating 
additional school places in Harrow.  Over 60% of respondents agreed with the Council’s 
approach to creating additional school places in Harrow.   
 
The responses to the consultation undertaken on the proposal to expand Grimsdyke School 
indicate agreement with the Council’s approach to creating additional school places in Harrow.  
50% of respondents agreed with the Council’s approach to creating additional school places in 
Harrow and only a quarter of respondents disagreed with the approach.  Over half the 
respondents to the second consultation question disagreed with the Council’s proposal to 
expand Grimsdyke School and 29% agreed. 
 
However, 57 responses were received to the consultation about the proposed expansion of 
Grimsdyke School.  This response level of 57 needs to be viewed in the context of some 

66



Grimsdyke School     Cabinet report 15 January 2015               Appendix 2 
  

hundreds of response forms distributed to parents, staff and local residents.  Also the 
publicising of the online consultation response portal on the Harrow Council website. 
 
The consultation responses and outcomes are summarised in the ‘Views submitted’ section 
below. 
 
Raise local standards and narrow attainment gaps 
A key principle identified by officers and representative primary headteachers in the work to 
develop expansion proposals was the maintenance of high quality education standards, and all 
schools with council support as necessary will work to ensure high education standards are 
promoted through the expansions.  The governing bodies and senior leadership teams of the 
schools will ensure appropriate structures are in place to manage the increased numbers of 
pupils and deliver the curriculum.   
 
Suitable accommodation and facilities will be provided to accommodate the increased pupil 
numbers.  Revenue funding is based on pupil numbers and the funding for increased numbers 
of pupils can enable opportunities for schools to be creative in use of resources to promote 
pupils’ learning. 
 
Closing the Gap is a fundamental part of Ofsted’s school inspection process, and accordingly, 
the Local Authority monitors the attainment of identified groups of pupils in its schools. 
 
Government policy on academies 
The Government’s policy on academies is not directly applicable to this expansion proposal.  
The proposal does not create a new school which is when the ‘academy presumption’ applies.  
The governing body of the school is at liberty to consider conversion to academy school status 
regardless of whether the school is expanded or not. 
 
 

Demand 
In assessing the demand for new school places the decision-maker should consider the 
evidence presented for any projected increase in pupil population (such as planned housing 
developments) and any new provision opening in the area (including free schools).  

The decision-maker should take into account the quality and popularity of the schools in which 
spare capacity exists and evidence of parents’ aspirations for a new school or for places in a 
school proposed for expansion. The existence of surplus capacity in neighbouring less popular 
schools should not in itself prevent the addition of new places.  

Reducing surplus places is not a priority (unless running at very high levels). For parental 
choice to work effectively there may be some surplus capacity in the system as a whole. 
Competition from additional schools and places in the system will lead to pressure on existing 
schools to improve standards.  
 
The Greater London Authority (GLA) prepares the pupil projections for Harrow Council.  The 
GLA uses a range of information and data to prepare the projections including the number of 
births, number of pupils in Harrow schools, migration to Harrow and new housing development.  
Across London the population is growing, and the main reason for this is increasing birth rate.   
 
The demand for Reception class places (for pupils reaching 5 years of age) in Harrow schools 
is increasing: 

• In January 2006 there were 2,224 Reception aged pupils in Harrow schools; 

• In January 2013 there were 2,879 Reception aged pupils in Harrow schools; 

67



Grimsdyke School     Cabinet report 15 January 2015               Appendix 2 
  

• In January 2014 there were 3,030 Reception aged pupils in Harrow schools; 

• In January 2016 it is projected there will be 3,463 Reception aged pupils in Harrow 
schools. 

 
To ensure sufficient school places to meet the increased demand, temporary additional 
Reception classes have been opened since 2009.  In order to meet the actual and predicted 
increased demand in the next few years there is a need to increase the number of permanent 
school places, in the primary sector initially and in the secondary sector in due course.  
Additional places are also required to meet increased demand for provision to meet special 
educational need.    
 
In September 2012 there were a total of 2,550 permanent Reception class places in Harrow’s 
primary sector schools.  Phase 1 of the primary school expansion programme was implemented 
in September 2013 with 8 schools in the borough permanently increasing their Reception 
intakes.  In September 2015, when all the Phase 2 schools are expanded, there will be 3,240 
permanent Reception places.   
 
In order to ensure sufficient school places to meet the predicted increased demand by 
September 2016, Harrow needs to increase the number of permanent Reception places by at 
least a further 300 places to a total of 3,540.  The Phase 3 proposals, that include Grimsdyke 
School, aim to ensure sufficient school places at the right time and in the right location to meet 
the increased demand up to 2016/17.  Full information about the projected demand for school 
places and the planning to increase school places across Harrow can be viewed in the 17 July 
2014 Cabinet papers (item 21 School Expansion Programme Appendix B) at  
http://www.harrow.gov.uk/www2/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=249&MId=62354&Ver=4  
 
The total number of parental preferences in applications for Reception places at Grimsdyke 
School increased this year, and the first preference numbers are at the proposed expanded 
admission number. 
 
 

School size 
Decision-makers should not make blanket assumptions that schools should be of a certain size 
to be good schools, although the viability and cost-effectiveness of a proposal is an important 
factor for consideration. The decision-maker should also consider the impact on the LA’s budget 
of the need to provide additional funding to a small school to compensate for its size.  
 
Harrow’s school expansion programme is very significant and is expected to involve all schools 
in opening additional classes on either a permanent or temporary basis.  Over half the primary 
schools in Harrow will be permanently expanded by the end of the school expansion 
programme.   
 
School revenue budgets are funded from the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG).  As the 
Department for Education (DfE) allocates DSG based on pupil numbers, any increase in pupil 
numbers results in additional revenue funding for the expanding school.  The revenue funding is 
allocated to schools based on the Harrow Schools’ Funding Formula.  School budgets are 
based on pupil numbers in the October prior to the start of the financial year, so there is always 
a funding lag when schools increase their pupil numbers.  To ensure that schools who agree to 
an additional class are not financially penalised, the Harrow School Funding Formula provides 
‘Additional Class Funding’ for the period from September to the end of March, following which 
the mainstream funding formula will take effect.  This ensures that schools have adequate 
funding for at least the average costs of a teacher. 

68



Grimsdyke School     Cabinet report 15 January 2015               Appendix 2 
  

 
 

Proposed admission arrangements (including post-16 provision) 
In assessing demand the decision-maker should consider all expected admission applications, 
not only those from the area of the LA in which the school is situated.  
Before approving a proposal that is likely to affect admissions to the school the decision-maker 
should confirm that the admission arrangements of the school are compliant with the School 
Admissions Code. Although the decision-maker cannot modify proposed admission 
arrangements, the decision-maker should inform the proposer where arrangements seem 
unsatisfactory and the admissions authority should be given the opportunity to revise them.  
 
No changes to admission arrangements arise from these proposals.  Grimsdyke School is a 
community school that draws pupils from its local area and the admission arrangements of the 
school are compliant with the School Admissions Code. 
 
No changes to post-16 provision arise from the proposals. 
 
 

National Curriculum  
All maintained schools must follow the National Curriculum unless they have secured an 
exemption for groups of pupils or the school community. 
 
Grimsdyke School follows the National Curriculum and no changes to this arise from these 
proposals. 
 
 

Equal opportunity issues  
The decision-maker must have regard to the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) of 
LAs/governing bodies, which requires them to have ‘due regard’ to the need to:  

• eliminate discrimination;  

• advance equality of opportunity; and  

• foster good relations.  
The decision-maker should consider whether there are any sex, race or disability discrimination 
issues that arise from the changes being proposed, for example that where there is a proposed 
change to single sex provision in an area, there is equal access to single sex provision for the 
other sex to meet parental demand. Similarly there should be a commitment to provide access 
to a range of opportunities which reflect the ethnic and cultural mix of the area, while ensuring 
that such opportunities are open to all.  
 
Equalities Impact Assessment has been undertaken on the proposal to permanently expand 
Grimsdyke School.  The conclusion of this assessment is that the implications are either 
positive or neutral in that the expansion of the school will help to ensure sufficient school places 
for the increasing numbers of children in Harrow.  The assessment has not identified any 
potential for unlawful conduct or disproportionate impact and concludes that all opportunities to 
advance equality are being addressed. 
 
Harrow’s schools are successful, inclusive and provide a diversity of provision.  The school 
expansion programme will ensure sufficient school places for the increasing numbers of 
children in Harrow and will build on the successful provision that already exists in Harrow’s 
schools. 
 

69



Grimsdyke School     Cabinet report 15 January 2015               Appendix 2 
  

 

Community cohesion  
Schools have a key part to play in providing opportunities for young people from different 
backgrounds to learn with, from and about each other; by encouraging, through their teaching, an 
understanding of, and respect for, other cultures, faiths and communities. When considering a 
proposal, the decision-maker must consider its impact on community cohesion. This will need to be 
considered on a case-by-case basis, taking account of the community served by the school and the 
views of different sections within the community.  

 
This is a community school which draws pupils from its local area and the pupil profile reflects 
the ethnicity of its area.  The October 2014 School Census demonstrates that the school has an 
ethnically diverse pupil population.   
 
 

Travel and accessibility  
Decision-makers should satisfy themselves that accessibility planning has been properly taken 
into account and the proposed changes should not adversely impact on disadvantaged groups.  

The decision-maker should bear in mind that a proposal should not unreasonably extend 
journey times or increase transport costs, or result in too many children being prevented from 
travelling sustainably due to unsuitable walking or cycling routes.  

A proposal should also be considered on the basis of how it will support and contribute to the 
LA’s duty to promote the use of sustainable travel and transport to school.  
 
Schools that are proposed for expansion are located around the borough so that additional 
school places are available locally to where the children live.  This approach minimises 
distances that children and parents have to travel to school and serves to promote accessibility.  
This helps to limit the need for car use by parents at the beginning and end of the school day.  
As far as possible, it is believed the schools chosen for expansion would be a popular choice 
amongst parents wishing to secure a place at their local schools. 
 
The schools proposed for expansion, as is the case at many schools in Harrow, already have a 
degree of traffic and congestion issues from the current school intake and the expansions will 
exacerbate the problems if no mitigating measures are taken.  To minimise the impact of the 
additional pupils a cross-council approach has been adopted to bring officers together from the 
Children & Families and Environment & Enterprise directorates to work with schools and local 
residents.  Transport Assessments at schools approved for expansion and Transport 
Statements at additional special educational needs place provision are undertaken and are 
submitted as part of the planning application for building work at the schools.  Particular 
emphasis is being given to School Travel Plans as a means of focusing attention of the issues 
and to seek to bring about change in people’s behaviour in delivering and collecting children. 
 
 

Capital  
The decision-maker should be satisfied that any land, premises or capital required to implement 
the proposal will be available and that all relevant local parties (e.g. trustees or religious 
authority) have given their agreement. A proposal cannot be approved conditionally upon 
funding being made available.  

Where proposers are relying on the department as the source of capital funding, there can be 
no assumption that the approval of a proposal will trigger the release of capital funds from the 
department, unless the department has previously confirmed in writing that such resources will 

70



Grimsdyke School     Cabinet report 15 January 2015               Appendix 2 
  

be available; nor can any allocation ‘in principle’ be increased. In such circumstances the 
proposal should be rejected, or consideration deferred until it is clear that the capital necessary 
to implement the proposal will be provided.  

 
If these statutory proposals are approved, Grimsdyke School would require building work to be 
undertaken to provide appropriate accommodation for the additional children. 
 
Initial site scoping work has been undertaken by architects and has indicated how the additional 
school places could be accommodated through a combination of new build and remodelling of 
the existing school accommodation.   
 
Detailed feasibility work and surveys will be undertaken to develop design proposals and 
develop costings.  This feasibility work would ensure that the necessary building work could be 
completed by September 2016 and any necessary interim accommodation requirements could 
be made for the intake of additional children in September 2015. 
The budget for the school expansion programme, including primary school expansions in Phase 
1 and Phase 2 and three expansions at Phase 3, secondary school expansions and provision 
for pupils with special educational needs (SEN) is £89.784m. 
 
Based on current estimates and market conditions it is expected that it is possible to deliver this 
programme with Education Funding Agency capital grants, without the need for council capital 
funding.  If the programme is not deliverable within the current programme then borrowing may 
be required.  This risk is being monitored closely in consultation with Cabinet Members. 
 

School premises and playing fields  
Under the School Premises Regulations all schools are required to provide suitable outdoor 
space in order to enable physical education to be provided to pupils in accordance with the 
school curriculum; and for pupils to play outside safely.  

Guidelines setting out suggested areas for pitches and games courts are in place although the 
department has been clear that these are non-statutory.  

 
Government regulations and guidelines are considered in relation to all the schools proposed 
for expansion in the school expansion programme when undertaking the design work to 
accommodate the additional pupils.  All schools are considered in the same fair and transparent 
manner when identifying the design for building works.  The current school facilities are 
considered against Building Bulletin 103 to analyse any current and potential shortfalls.  Full 
consideration is given to suitable outdoor and indoor space in order to enable physical 
education to be provided to pupils in accordance with the school curriculum; and for pupils to 
play outside safely. 

 

Views submitted during the expansion consultation 
Consultation about the proposal to expand Grimsdyke School was held between Tuesday 16 
September 2014 and Monday 20 October 2014.  Officers attended an open consultation 
meeting on 14 October 2014 at the school about the expansion proposal to give a presentation 
and answer questions.   
 
Consultation responses 
57 responses were received to the consultation.  Respondents were primarily parents/carers 
and residents.  Responses from organisations are set out below under ‘Other responses to the 
consultation’.  A number of comments were included with the responses and the three main 

71



Grimsdyke School     Cabinet report 15 January 2015               Appendix 2 
  

themes are summarised below together with officer response to the themes.  The comments 
received are in Background Papers to the Cabinet report. 
 
Two questions were asked in the consultation.  They were: 

• “Do you agree with the approach to creating additional school places in Harrow?” 

• “Do you agree with the proposal to permanently expand Grimsdyke School?” 
Both questions offered the option to respond ‘Yes’, ‘No’, or ‘Not Sure’ to each question.  
Opportunity was given for comments to be added after each question if the respondent wished 
to do so.  
The following tables provide overall responses to the consultation questions. 
 
The overall responses to Question 1 were: 
Question 1: “Do you agree with the approach to creating additional school places in 
Harrow?” 

Response Number Percentage 

Yes 29 50.88% 

No  14 24.56% 

Not Sure 14 24.56% 

Total 57 100.00% 

 
The overall responses to Question 2 were: 
Question 2: “Do you agree with the proposal to permanently expand Grimsdyke 
School?” 

Response Number Percentage 

Yes 17 29.82% 

No  32 56.14% 

Not Sure 8 14.04% 

No Response 0 0% 

Total 57 100.00% 

 
Analysis of comments received 
The responses made to the first consultation question indicate agreement with the Council’s 
approach to creating additional school places in Harrow with only a quarter of respondents 
disagreeing with the approach. 
 
Over half the respondents to the second consultation question disagree with the Council’s 
proposal to expand Grimsdyke School. 
 
The response level of 57 needs to be viewed in the context of some hundreds of response 
forms distributed to parents, staff and local residents.  Also the publicising of the online 
consultation response portal on the Harrow Council website. 
 
Other responses to the consultation 
Governing Body 
The formal response by the Governing Body of Grimsdyke School to the statutory consultation 
is as follows:  “The full Governing Body of Grimsdyke School discussed the proposed expansion 
of Grimsdyke School on Tuesday 14th October.  We are in agreement that Grimsdyke School 
should be expanded to three form entry from 2015 providing that we are provided with a 
building that will meet the needs of the school as discussed with the Architects.  The full 
Governing Body has some concern around traffic etc. as well.” 

72



Grimsdyke School     Cabinet report 15 January 2015               Appendix 2 
  

 
Hatch End Association 
Hatch End Association responded 

• agreeing with the approach to creating additional school places in Harrow 

• Not sure about the proposal to permanently expand Grimsdyke School. 
The Association commented “The Hatch End Association support the expansion of the school 
on the condition that the traffic congestion problems are solved.  The school has single road 
access through Colburn Avenue with congestion at present but would be unsustainable with a 
50% increase in school numbers.” 
 
Four emails were received from residents in the generic email account 
SchoolReorganisation@harrow.gov.uk about the proposed expansion.  These emails expressed 
concerns about the insufficient road infrastructure around the school for the volume of traffic, 
unsafe driving practices, inconsiderate parking and antisocial behaviour by drivers towards 
residents.  The authors were encouraged to respond to the consultation via the Harrow Council 
website so all the consultation responses could be collated together. 
 
Officer response to the consultation comments 
The three main themes in consultation comments relate to: 

• Harrow’s approach should be to create new schools 

• school site and building issues relating to an expanded school; 

• traffic and congestion issues. 
 
Harrow’s approach should be to create new schools 
Sites for new schools in Harrow are very limited and there cannot be enough new schools to go 
more than a comparatively small way to meet the increased demand for school places.  New 
schools also need to be proposed in the Government’s Free School Programme to establish 
new state-funded schools which are not in the control of local authorities.  Free schools are an 
important element of the school expansion programme in Harrow and Avanti House and the 
Jubilee Academy are already open in Harrow, and three further successful applications were 
announced by the Government on 30 September 2014 to be opening in 2016.  Harrow Council 
will continue to support this programme in the interests of Harrow residents and to help meet 
the demand for additional school places. 
 
School places are being created as local as possible to where the children live.  90% of 
Grimsdyke’s increased intake of 90 Reception pupils this September live with 0.75 of a mile of 
the school. 
 
School site and building issues 
Architects will be engaged to undertake school site scoping and survey work to develop design 
proposals for the school if it is decided it will be expanded.  This work will begin with 
understanding the current school arrangements and identifying an optimum and affordable 
design solution for the increased size of school.  This work will take account of the comments 
and issues raised during the consultation and will be undertaken in liaison with the school. 
 
The design proposal will be subject to open pre-planning engagement with the school 
community and local residents so comments can be taken into account and influence the final 
design that is submitted in the planning application if the expansion of the school is approved. 
 
Traffic and congestion issues 
The concerns expressed about traffic congestion, parking and road safety in the area are fully 
recognised and are the consistent major theme arising from the expansion consultations.  To 

73



Grimsdyke School     Cabinet report 15 January 2015               Appendix 2 
  

minimise the impact of the additional pupils attending the schools proposed for expansion, a 
cross-council approach is being implemented.  This approach brings officers together from 
Children and Families, Enterprise and Environment and Communications to co-ordinate work. 
 
This proposal would require a building programme, for which planning permission would be 
needed.  If an application is submitted, a decision on this will be a matter for the Planning 
Committee.  This committee will consider highways and traffic concerns and the impact of the 
development on the local area.  Residents and parents who believe they are impacted by this 
decision are entitled to make representations to the planning committee during the statutory 
planning consent timescales. 
 

Representations about the statutory proposals 
70 representations in relation to the statutory proposals were received by Harrow Council by the 
closing date of the representation period on 1 December 2014.  The representations are 
attached in Appendix 1 to the Cabinet report. 
 
A letter dated 26 November 2014 was received from the Governing Body of Grimsdyke School.  
The letter is attached as Appendix 3 to the Cabinet report. 
 
Governing Body of Grimsdyke School 
The Governing Body supports the proposal to expand the school. 
The letter states governors have been made aware of the comments that have been made in 
the consultation programme and in letters to the school and the council.  Governors appreciate 
the need to deal with the issues raised around traffic and have tasked a committee with 
developing an updated Travel Plan with officers from Harrow.  The Governing Body is 
committed to ensuring that the expansion does not negatively impact on the teaching and 
learning for the current pupils. 
 
Representations by email and letter 
The following representations by email and letter were received: 

• 65 emails to the SchoolReorganisation@harrow.gov.uk email address  

• Letter dated 24 November 2014 from The Hatch End Association 

• Four letters from local residents 
 
Many representations stated a consultation document had not been received.   
 
The majority of the representations refer to the existing traffic congestion and anti-social driving 
behaviour in the area of the school and object to the proposed expansion of Grimsdyke School 
on the basis of the increased traffic congestion issues that will result.  Reference is made to a 
number of issues, including:  

the need for traffic management and enforcement; safety of pedestrians; narrow roads; 
access via Hillview Road is a bottleneck; difficulty for emergency vehicles to access the 
area quickly at school times; the impact of charging in the car park behind the shops off 
Grimsdyke Road on parking in local roads through the day; congestion at the junction of 
Grimsdyke Road and Uxbridge Road; parents ignoring parking restrictions; parents blocking 
and reversing into driveways, parking in the pavement green areas and parking on the 
grass within the park. 

 
Comment was also made about the impact of new building at the school on neighbouring 
properties, the issue of construction traffic access and a suggestion to locate the school on two 
separate locations.   
 

74



Grimsdyke School     Cabinet report 15 January 2015               Appendix 2 
  

Officer comment about the representation by email and letter 
The representations clearly set out a range of existing traffic issues in the area of Grimsdyke 
School and resident concerns that these issues will be exacerbated by the proposed expansion 
of Grimsdyke School.  The representations also include some helpful suggestions about 
possible mitigations for the problems, all of which will be considered.   
 

Consultation document 

Extensive efforts were made to bring the expansion proposal to the attention of residents in the 
area and a view was taken about the distribution of consultation documents accordingly.  The 
following is a summary of the consultation activity undertaken about the expansion proposal. 
 

Consultation about the proposed expansion was held from Tuesday 16 September 2014 to 
Monday 20 October 2014.  The consultation had been scheduled to close on Wednesday 15 
October, but was extended until Monday 20 October at the request of the Hatch End 
Association and attendees at the open meeting to allow more time for responses to be made.  
Written information about the consultation was sent to all parents, staff and governors of the 
school.  Letters in specially designed envelopes were also distributed during week beginning 22 
September 2014 to 350 households in the vicinity of the school.  This included all houses 
around the circumference of the school on Lyndon Avenue, Colburn Avenue and Sylvia Avenue, 
along with all houses which adjoin the route from the school to the Grimsdyke Road, along 
Colburn Avenue and Hillview Road.  The consultation papers included invitation to an open 
meeting for parents, staff and residents at the school on Tuesday 14 October at 6.30 – 7.30 pm.  
Direct invitations were sent to The Hatch End Association and the Hatch End Trade 
Association.  Hatch End Ward Councillors were notified about the consultation and the 
distribution to residents. 
 

All consultation documents were posted on Harrow Council’s website and on ‘Your Say’ for 
online responses. 
 
Statutory proposals to expand permanently Grimsdyke School were published on 3 November 
2014 for a four week representation period.  The public notice was displayed on the school 
gates, in local libraries and in the Harrow Times. 
 
A visit was arranged to Grimsdyke School by both local newspapers (Harrow Times and Harrow 
Observer) who subsequently published articles raising awareness of the expansion plans.  
These articles both quoted the School’s and the Council’s determination to tackle the traffic and 
parking issues raised at an early stage with residents. 
 
The processes demonstrate that a very wide consultation has begun and, the Council’s and 
school’s commitment to addressing local concerns, especially about traffic, as part of the 
consultation about the expansion proposal.  This is exactly in keeping with the Council approach 
across all 22 school expansion projects now in progress or recently completed. 
 
It is apparent from the representations submitted by email that many were submitted following 
receipt of written information distributed by road stewards of The Hatch End Association to 
addresses that included other roads around the school area.  This would explain references to 
the consultation document not being received.  Email response was sent on Friday 5 December 
2014 to those who emailed their representations explaining the distribution of the consultation 
document and other activity to bring the proposal to public attention as outlined above.  The 
response included information, as outlined below, about the council’s and school’s response to 
the issues of traffic congestion and anti-social driving behaviour that had been raised. 

75



Grimsdyke School     Cabinet report 15 January 2015               Appendix 2 
  

 
Traffic congestion and anti-social driving behaviour 
The traffic congestion issues are recognised and are being addressed within the school 
expansion programme processes.  The approach includes: 

• Schools are being expanded across Harrow to provide the additional school places close 
to where the children live.  This approach reduces the need for cars to be used to take 
children to and from school and reduces car use across the borough.  This is 
demonstrated at Grimsdyke School in that 90% of the September 2014 Reception intake 
of 90 children live within ¾ of a mile of the school.  Over two thirds live within ½ a mile of 
the school.  The scale of the school expansion programme is huge, with over half of 
Harrow’s primary schools with Reception intake expanded by September 2015 and more 
will be expanded in Phase 3 of the programme. 

• Experience in expanding schools across Harrow has identified a number of tools and 
solutions which the Council and schools can deploy.  Deploying these resources in the 
right way can contribute to a decline in traffic around expanded schools, even while extra 
pupils are added. 

• Transport Assessments are undertaken at all schools approved for expansion as part of 
the Planning process.  These Transport Assessments are done by independent specialist 
contractors and include surveys and observations of traffic in the relevant area.  The 
outcomes and recommendations from the Transport Assessments are considered so 
plans can be put in place to address them.  The planning applications include the 
Transport Assessments and will be consulted upon fully in a separate process that 
includes opportunities to comment. 

• Updated School Travel Plans are submitted as part of the planning application.  These 
travel plans can include a number of techniques for reducing car use and altering parent 
behaviour.  Grimsdyke School Governing Body has tasked a committee with developing 
an updated School Travel Plan with officers from Harrow.  School Travel Plans are a 
powerful way to influence parental behaviour and have been proven to encourage 
walking to school and actually reduce car use.  They are accredited by the Mayor of 
London, and other expansion schools in Harrow have achieved Gold accreditation, which 
signifies a decrease in car use of 6% or 90% of pupils travelling sustainably.  Work will be 
done to achieve Gold level of accreditation. 

• For both the Transport Assessment and School Travel Plan work it should be borne in 
mind that schools expand by admitting an additional Reception intake each year so that 
the school fills incrementally over a 7 year period.  This gives time to work at addressing 
issues on a planned basis before the schools are fully expanded. 

• Parking enforcement activity occurs at all schools.  Schools that are increasing pupil 
numbers receive additional attention, and are targeted for additional enforcement visits 
by two dedicated CCTV cars.  Grimsdyke School is currently visited at least twice weekly 
by the CCTV cars. 

• If Grimsdyke School is approved for expansion, a planning application would be prepared 
and submitted for the additional accommodation and facilities needed at the school.  
Distribution of consultation information on the expansion proposal has deliberately 
included local residents to bring the proposal to early attention in recognition of traffic 
congestion issues around schools at drop-off and collection times.  When design 
proposals have been developed there will be public engagement activity to help inform 
the final design proposal.  This includes a drop-in event for residents to see work in 
progress on issues including traffic and design and contribute thoughts and suggestions.  
Architects, council officers and school representatives would be available at the event, 
including traffic and travel planning officers. 

 

76



77



78

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 Protocol for the Operation of the Call-In Sub-Committee (Education)
	5 Call-In of the Cabinet Decision (15 January 2015) - Determination of Statutory Proposals to expand Grimsdyke School
	Cabinet min extract 15-1-15
	Grimsdyke School Main Report
	Appendix 1 Representations to the statutory proposal about Grimsdyke School
	Appendix 2 Decision Makers Guidance considerations Grimsdyke 15115
	Appendix 3 Grimsdyke Governing Body response to statutory proposal


